IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA No. 22-0185

Jayson Nicewarner, et al., Plaintiffs Below, Petitioner,

v.

City of Morgantown, A municipal corporation, Defendant Below, Respondent

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioner

Teresa C. Toriseva, Esq. #6947 Joshua D. Miller, Esq. #12439 Michael A. Kuhn, Esq. #13898 TORISEVA LAW 1446 National Road Wheeling, WV 26003 304-238-0066 304-238-0149 justice@torisevalaw.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO ORDER REGARDLESS OF THE SHIFT START TIME, A FIREFIGHTER WHO WORKS A 24-HOUR SHIFT SHOULD RECEIVE 24 HOURS OF PAID TIME OFF UNDER W. VA. CODE § 8-15-10a.
- 2. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND PAID TIME OFF TO</u> <u>COMPENSATE FIREFIGHTERS UNDER THE HOLIDAY PAY STATUTE IS</u> <u>NOT A "WAGE" UNDER THE WEST VIRGINIA WAGE PAYMENT AND</u> <u>COLLECTION ACT.</u>
- 3. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT APPLIED LACHES, AN EQUITY</u> <u>DOCTRINE, TO LIMIT THIS CASE WHEN STATUTES PROVIDE THE</u> <u>LIMITATION.</u>

4. <u>THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO</u> <u>APPLY 5-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS PURSUANT TO W. VA. CODE §</u> <u>21-5-1(c) AND RELEVANT PRECEDENT.</u>

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents questions to this Court, that when answered, will impact professional firefighter wages across the state. Should the firefighters be provided Holiday Pay for their entire 24-hour shift regardless of the start time of the shift? Is paid time off provided to firefighters under the Holiday Pay Statute a wage under the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act? The answer to both questions is "yes".

Fifty-four (54) Morgantown firefighters brought this lawsuit seeking to recover years of loss compensation resulting from the city failing to comply with the firefighter Holiday Pay statute (W.Va. Code § 8-15-10a), the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act, and W.Va. Code § 2-2-1, which establishes the state holidays. (J.A. 01). Firefighters work a 24-hour shift. (J.A. 1301). The firefighters begin their shift at 8:00 a.m. (Id. at 91). There are three shifts of firefighters. (J.A. 1327). When a firefighter takes a sick day or a bereavement day, it is counted as one calendar

day with the city, even though the shift spans 24-hours. (Id at 49-52). But the city provided paid time off to firefighters for Holiday Pay in the amount of 12 hours per holiday per firefighter (J.A. 1290). The city should have provided 24 hours of Holiday pay time. (J.A. 214). This had gone on for decades prior to filing the lawsuit. (J.A. 1324).

Despite denying the allegations in the Complaint, in February of 2020, the city acknowledged it was not paying firefighters correctly by doubling the amount of holiday paid time off from 12 hours to 24 hours per shift for all firefighters, whether the firefighter works the holiday or not. This was done by city ordinance. (J.A. 483). The firefighters agree this method complies with the holiday pay statute¹.

Throughout this case four mediations have taken place. One mediation occurred pre-suit. Different mediators have been used. Discovery took place with multiple depositions being taken. (J.A. 1278, 1314, 1335, 1380). Plaintiffs' expert evaluated five (5) years of pay records provided by the city and compiled his damage report for the unpaid wages, which included a separate calculation for attorneys' fees, interest, and the doubling effect for separated employees under the WPCA. (J.A. 1005).

On December 15, 2020, a mediation was conducted at Kay, Casto, and Chaney in Morgantown. While unsuccessful, the parties agreed to meet again to continue mediating. At the subsequent mediation at Kay, Casto, and Chaney on January 15, 2021, the city offered \$1.7 million as a back pay fund to be distributed to the fifty-four (54) firefighters for the unpaid holiday pay. The "forward fix" enacted by city ordinance (J.A. 483) would remain in place. This final offer

¹ The case has two parts to consider for resolution: a lump sum amount to be paid to the firefighters for the unpaid holiday pay from the date of the complaint filing back; and a method must be established to pay holiday that complies with the statute ensuring that firefighters are paid correctly today and into the future. This has been referred to as a "forward fix" in various firefighter holiday pay cases across the state.

from the city was only \$100,000 above ¼ of the expert's total damage calculation of \$6.4 million owed to the firefighters. (Id.) The firefighters respectfully declined the settlement offer.

Soon after, on December 20, 2020, in a separate but related firefighter Holiday Pay case, *Stroop v. City of Martinsburg*, Judge Faircloth of the 23rd Judicial Circuit affirmed its previous August 11, 2020, Order where it ordered²:

"Stated another way, if a fire fighter works any part of a Holiday, that firefighter shall receive 36 hours of pay or 24 hours of paid time off. If the firefighter does not work the Holiday, the firefighter is to receive 36 hours of pay or 24 hours of paid time off." (J.A. 324, 332).

On May 7, 2021, the *Nicewarner* Plaintiffs filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. (J.A. 209). On June 2, 2021, the Defendant filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. (J.A. 140). The matter was fully briefed and set for oral hearing before Judge Gaujot on June 16, 2021³. The Court heard brief arguments from the parties on the merits of the respective motions for summary judgment, but deferred ruling on the matters pending further mediation by the parties. (J.A. 514).

In compliance with the Court's direction, the parties returned to mediation on August 5, 2021, for a Zoom mediation with mediator Charlie Piccirillo. The Defendant made no monetary move. The Plaintiffs signaled they would be willing to move if the city moved.

On Sept 16, 2021, the Court held a 2nd pre-trial and hearing on the cross-motions for summary judgment. (J.A. 697). This hearing was held by Zoom. Near the end of the hearing, but

² The City of Martinsburg appealed this Order to this Court of Appeals. On August 19, 2021, after being fully briefed, this Court dismissed the appeal. (J.A. 701). Judge Faircloth's Order remains undisturbed. The *Stroop* case settled and resolved completely. The Martinsburg firefighters now receive 24 hours of paid time off whether they work the Holiday or not.

³ On the morning of the hearing, aware that Plaintiffs' counsel would be travelling from Wheeling to Morgantown for the hearing and therefore not in the office, Defendant filed a Supplemental Response to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment by facsimile only. (J.A. 356). The parties' counsel had consistently used electronic mail throughout the case for communications, including delivering pleadings.

while still on the record, the Court directed counsel for the Defendant to draft the order and submit it to the Court and opposing counsel by September 24, 2021. The Court further directed Plaintiffs' counsel to submit any written objections by October 7, 2021. (J.A. 1515) Defense counsel submitted its draft order on September 24, 2021. (J.A. 1038). On September 28, without waiting for Plaintiffs' objections or changes to the draft order, the Court signed and entered the order as drafted by defense counsel. (J.A. 1066).

Plaintiffs timely filed their objections (J.A. 1094) on October 7, 2021. Plaintiffs objected to the Court finding that Holiday Pay is not a wage under the WPCA. (Id.). In Morgantown, Holiday Pay is provided as paid time off to be used later. When used, it is calculated and paid as money in the firefighters' paychecks. (J.A. 1408). Under the WPCA, this makes the paid time off a "wage". Further, once the Court found the WPCA did not apply, it found the five-year statute of limitations for wage claims did not apply; the Court applied *laches* (even though a statute clearly applied) and indicated the Plaintiffs waited too long to bring these claims. (J.A. 1089). Further, the Plaintiffs objected to the Court's finding the treatment of the firefighters' 24-hour shift as one calendar day for all purposes but Holiday Pay was immaterial to the amount of paid time off the firefighters should receive. (J.A. 1094). While the Plaintiffs do not object to the finding that the city is entitled to choose paid time off to compensate its employee-firefighters, like retirees, unable to recover any holiday pay time they were deprived; a non-employee cannot be provided paid time off as a form of compensation.

On December 15, 2021, a live hearing was held before the Court. The Court acknowledged the procedural errors in its previous Order and indicated "[b]ut at the very least, there's going to be a reconsideration in this case because I didn't give you the benefit to -- of your objections, and I should have done that."

But the Court did not reconsider this case. After the live hearing, the Court re-issued the same order entirely against the firefighters and their claims. (J.A. 1250). Footnote One of the Gaujot Order states the two Orders are indistinguishable. (Id.). These Plaintiffs appeal the Gaujot Order to this Court.

As illustrated by the timeline below, at the trial court stage, the case took an odd procedural turn after the June 16, 2021, hearing.

- On May 15, 2019, pre-suit mediation was conducted with Monica Haddad as mediator.
- On June 7, 2019, the firefighters filed their complaint for declaratory judgment and compensatory damages in Monongalia County. (J.A. 01).
- On June 12, 2019, Judge Scudiere disqualified herself from the case. (J.A. 58).
- On June 28, 2019, the Defendant-City filed its Notice of Bonafide Defense. (J.A.
 60).
- On July 11, 2019, Defendant-City answered the Plaintiffs' complaint. (J.A. 061).
- On February 18, 2020, the city adopted a resolution fixing the problem by increasing the amount of holiday paid time off from 12 hours to 24 hours for each firefighter whether the firefighter works the holiday or not. (J.A. 483).
- On December 15, 2020, a second mediation was conducted with Deb Scudiere as mediator.

- On December 20, 2020, in a separate but related firefighter Holiday Pay case, *Stroop v. City of Martinsburg*, Judge Faircloth of the 23rd Judicial Circuit affirmed its previous August 11, 2020, in favor of those firefighters. (J.A. 324).
- On January 15, 2021, a third mediation was conducted, again with Ms. Scudiere.
- On May 7, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. (J.A. 209).
- On June 2, 2021, the Defendant-City filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. (J.A. 138).
- On June 16, 2021, the oral hearing on cross Motions for Summary Judgment was conducted where the Court stated:
 - o "The City is running a real risk here, three times plus attorney fees, plus, you know, expenses. So the City's potential risk is much greater than the firefighters'" (J.A. 1460).
 - o "They do a tough job, and they're entitled to their pay." (J.A. 1461).
 - "Well, you know, it's a complicated case. I'll be the first to admit it. And there's merits on both sides. I think it would be wise to sit down and talk settlement. If you can't, let me know, and we'll do it the hard way." (J.A. 1463).
- On July 20, 2021, the Plaintiffs filed their updated pre-trial memorandum providing the expert report to the Court. (J.A. 516).
- On August 5, 2021, a fourth mediation was conducted by Zoom with Charlie Piccirillo as the mediator.
- On September 16, 2021, the Court held the 2nd portion of the Motion for Summary Judgment hearing where he ruled from the bench the firefighters' holiday pay was

not a wage or fringe benefit, that laches applied to the claims, and the case should be dismissed.

- Near the end of the hearing, but while still on the record, the Court directed counsel for the Defendant to draft the order and submit it to the Court and opposing counsel by September 24, 2021.
- The Court further directed Plaintiffs' counsel to submit any written objections by October 7, 2021. (J.A. 1515)
- On September 24, 2021, Defense counsel submitted its draft order. (J.A. 1038).
- On September 28, <u>without waiting for Plaintiffs' objections or changes to the draft</u> order, the Court signed and entered the order as drafted by defense counsel. (J.A. 1066).
- On October 7, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their objections (J.A. 1094).
- On October 8, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's Judgment Pursuant to W.Va. R. C. P. Rule 59(e). (J.A. 1106)
- On November 19, 2021, the Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Live Hearing (rather than a Zoom hearing). (J.A. 1128). The Court granted the motion. (J.A.1143).
- On December 10, 2021, the Defendant filed its Response in Opposition to the Plaintiffs Motion to Alter or Amend. (J.A. 1144).
- On December 15, 2021, a live hearing was held before the Court. The Court acknowledged the procedural errors in the previous Order and indicated:

"[b]ut at the very least, there's going to be a reconsideration in this case because I didn't give you the benefit to -- of your objections, and I should have done that."

- On February 9, 2022, despite indicating it would reconsider the case, the Court reissued the same order authored by defense counsel without "refinements" by the circuit court as it did on September 28, 2021, entirely against the firefighters and their claims. (J.A. 1250). At the hearing, the Court is on the record stating the following:
 - "Well, the problem, though, as I see it, is, I didn't give the plaintiffs their due time in court because I entered your proposed order without considering their objections. And so for those reasons that I stated earlier, I believe that the Court is obligated to consider their objection, and thus it will necessitate a refined order from me. Now, whether I include the substantive arguments that they are making today or not is a different issue. But I can tell you that I will be entering an amended order." (J.A. 1540, Line 8:17). (Emphasis added.)
 - "But anyway, I want to be right. So, I'm going to consider everything. And I think it's within my discretion." (J.A. 1541, Lines 10:12).

Footnote One of the Gaujot Order states the two Orders are indistinguishable. (J.A. 1250).

The Morgantown firefighters are perplexed the Monongalia County Circuit Court found money paid to them as compensation for Holiday Pay required by a statute is not considered a "wage" under the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act even though it is a wage for every other firefighter in every other city in West Virginia.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Any compensation as a result of employment, such as holiday pay for firefighters, is a wage or fringe benefit under the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act (WPCA). The WPCA also provides the remedy when the plaintiffs/employees are not compensated completely from the defendant/employer. W.Va. Code § 21-5-3, W.Va. Code § 21-5-4, W.Va. Code § 21-4-12(b).

W.Va. Code § 8-15-10a, the Firefighter Holiday Pay statute, establishes enhanced benefits to firefighters who are required to work a holiday when most other workers are off. The statute requires

"...if any member of a paid fire department is required to work during a legal holiday as is specified in subsection (a), section one [§2-2-1], article two, chapter two of this code, or if a legal holiday falls on the member's regular scheduled day off, he or she shall be allowed equal time off at such time as may be approved by the chief executive officer of the department under whom he or she serves or, in the alternative, shall be paid at a rate not less than one and one-half times his or her regular rate of pay..." (J.A. 004). This benefit appears in the firefighter paychecks as compensation for holiday pay as paid time off. (J.A. 1408).

The West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act is remedial legislation designed to protect working people, assist them in collection of compensation wrongly withheld and restricts right to assign wages. W. Va. Code § 21-5-3. *Jones v. Tri-County Growers, Inc.*, 366 S.E.2d 726, 179 W.Va. 218 (1988), *Mullins v. Venable*, 297 S.E.2d 866, 171 W.Va. 92 (1982).

The members of the City of Morgantown Fire Department did not waive, nor could they lawfully waive any statutory holiday pay requirements. (J.A. 06, 210, 179). Public policy and statute prevents it. Although the plaintiff/firefighters - whether they worked a holiday or not - may have been provided additional paid time off for each holiday, the city did not provide enough to comply with the statute. (J.A. 06). The city compensated the firefighters by providing them with 12 hours of paid time off whether the firefighter worked or not; the city should have compensated each firefighter with 24 hours of paid time off. (J.A. 183).

The plaintiff/firefighters named herein are owed wages for numerous holidays as set forth in W.Va. Code § 2-2-1, some over a period of many years, that were not paid completely by the City of Morgantown. Some or all of those holidays worked constituted overtime situations for the firefighters on duty, and as such, when firefighters work overtime on a legal holiday, they are entitled to two times their regular rate of pay for the overtime hours worked. (J.A 034). *Pullano v. City of Bluefield*, 176 W. Va. 198, 342 S.E.2d 164 (1986).

The professional firefighters in the City of Morgantown are members of the International Association of Fire Fighters. Their chapter is Local 313. While technically this is a labor union, it differs from the layperson's generally accepted notions regarding unions. For example, firefighters, even ones that are members of the IAFF, cannot strike. See W. Va. Code Ann. § 18-5-45a(2) (Public employees in West Virginia have no right, statutory or otherwise, to engage in collective bargaining, mediation, arbitration. or and any work stoppage or strike by public employees is hereby declared to be unlawful), Jefferson Cntv. Bd. of Educ. v. Jefferson Cnty. Educ. Ass'n, 183 W. Va. 15, 17, 393 S.E.2d 653, 655 (1990) (holding in the absence of legislation, the common law rule recognized in both federal and state courts is that public employees do not have the right to strike.)

This is because there can be no interruptions of any kind in firefighting services for a city. That would jeopardize safety. Imagine any car wreck or structure fire while there is a firefighter work stoppage; the result would be a tragedy much worse than the original incident. Next imagine multiple car wrecks or structure fires happening over the course of weeks or months. That community would likely disintegrate from the lack of a cohesive response to the tragedies that are normal for a busy city.

City administrations across West Virginia, including Morgantown, know their firefighters cannot strike. No matter how badly the city treats them, the firefighters will show up for their 24-hour shift and respond to the emergency calls when those calls come. The only recourse the firefighters have, especially when their wages are not paid, is to file a lawsuit under the Wage Payment Collection act and, specifically here, the Holiday Pay statute. (W.Va. Code § 8-15-10a).

To illustrate how far adrift the City of Morgantown's position and the trial court's ruling is, this Court can examine what has occurred when successful resolution was reached in other cities around West Virginia.

- <u>Charleston</u>: The successful resolution included a lump sum back pay award of \$1.7 million and a forward fix to ensure the firefighters were paid according to the statute.
- <u>Martinsburg</u>: The successful resolution included a lump sum back pay award of \$1.75 million and a forward fix providing firefighters 24-hours of paid time off whether the firefighter works or not. If staffing issues create a need to pay the firefighters instead of providing them 24 hours paid time off, the amount will be 36 hours of pay.
- <u>Weirton</u>: The successful resolution included a lump sum back pay award and a forward fix to ensure the firefighters were paid according to the statute to include new language in their Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- <u>Huntington</u>: This case recently settled. The settlement is pending final settlement terms, signed releases, and final payment⁴.
- <u>Bluefield</u>: The city corrected its manner of paying Holiday Pay without litigation. The city now is and has been paying its firefighters 36 hours of premium pay (1 ½ times their 24-hour shift even though the shift begins at 8:00am) since 2018.
 (J.A. 1037). Bluefield is the defendant in the *Pullano* case from 1987.

⁴ The Petitioner's will file a Motion to Supplement the Record soon as soon as the documents are available for all of the above cities who corrected their Holiday Pay methods.

Judge Sims in the First Judicial Circuit and Judge Faircloth in the 23rd Circuit have specifically ruled in favor of firefighters (and police) who brought claims against their cities for incompletely providing Holiday Pay. Combined with the resolutions across the State and the two circuit court rulings, Judge Gaujot's decision in this case is an outlier.

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