No. 22-0185

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

JAYSON NICEWARNER, et al.,

Plaintiffs Below/Petitioners,

v.

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

No. 22-0185 (CIRCUIT COURT OF MONONGALIA COUNTY CIVIL ACTION NO. 19-C-167)

THE CITY OF MORGANTOWN, a municipal corporation,

Defendant Below/Respondent,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, THE CITY OF MORGANTOWN

Ryan P. Simonton, Esq. (WVSB #11152) Erin J. Webb, Esq. (WVSB #10847) Matthew D. Elshiaty, Esq. (WVSB #12535) KAY CASTO & CHANEY PLLC 150 Clay Street, Suite 100 Morgantown, WV 26501 Telephone: (304) 225-0970 Facsimile: (304) 225-0974 <u>rsimonton@kaycasto.com</u> <u>ewebb@kaycasto.com</u> melshiaty@kaycasto.com

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

Petitioners' argument falls short at Subsection IV.e. of their Appeal Brief, where they summarily conclude, "Because the WPCA applies to these firefighters, so do its remedies." (Pet'rs Br. 25.) The crux of the case below concerned the Petitioners' rights and Morgantown's obligations under the Holiday Statute—namely, what is "equal time off" for hours worked during holidays under the Holiday Statute. Therein lies the problem for Petitioners with regard to application of the WPCA to their case. Even accepting the assertion that time off under the Holiday Statute meets the definition of "fringe benefits" under the Act, the WPCA does not govern *entitlement* to such benefits—that is, how much time off should the firefighters be afforded under the Holiday Statute—but rather, governs only the proper and timely payment of those fringe benefits as they come due (here, when the accrued holiday time off either is used or upon separation from employment, as discussed above). *See Grim v. Eastern Electric, LLC*, 234 W. Va. 557, 571,

767 S.E.d2d 267, 281 (2014); *Barton v. Creasey Co. of Clarksburg*, 900 F.2d 249, *2 (4th Cir.1990) (unpublished), *cert. denied*, 498 U.S. 849, 111 S. Ct. 137, 112 L.Ed.2d 104 (1990); *see also Adkins v. Am. Mine Research, Inc.*, 234 W. Va. 328, 765 S.E.2d 217 (2014); *Meadows v. Wal–Mart Stores, Inc.*, 207 W. Va. 203, 530 S.E.2d 676 (1999). Petitioners do not demonstrate or discuss how or why the WPCA applies to a dispute about entitlement to holiday time off under the Holiday Statute. They simply conclude that it does since holiday time off arguably meets the definition of "fringe benefits" under the Act.

3. AUTHORITY FROM THIS COURT SHOULD PROHIBIT THE "BOOTSTRAPPING" OF A WPCA CLAIM TO PETITIONERS' HOLIDAY STATUTE CLAIM.

Where an agreed-upon wage or fringe benefit actually has been paid by the employer, but the employee claims the agreed-upon wage or fringe benefit is in violation of some other law, "bootstrapping" a WPCA claim to the primary claim is improper. This Court has made clear that the WPCA controls the manner in which employees in West Virginia are paid wages and it imposes on employers an obligation to pay employees' wages in a timely manner. *Grim*, 234 W. Va. at 571, 767 S.E.d2d at 281. The WPCA does not, however, create an entitlement or right to a certain wage or fringe benefit where the agreed-upon wages or fringe benefits are alleged to be in violation of some other law. *Id*.

In *Grim*, former workers on a public works project brought an action against their former employer to recover statutory wages and liquidated damages under the Prevailing Wage Act ("PWA") and the WPCA. *Id.* at 561, 271. The former workers were paid timely by the former employer under the terms of their employment agreements, but those wages were not prevailing wages under the PWA, W. Va. Code §§ 21-5A-1 *et seq. Id.* at 562, 272. The parties submitted cross-motions for summary judgment, and the circuit court granted the former employer's motion in its entirety, including a ruling that the former employees had no cause of action under the WPCA. *Id.* at 563, 273. This Court affirmed the dismissal of the WPCA claim, providing the following reasoning for the same:

The WPCA explicitly provides a private cause of action and statutory remedy when the employer breaches its obligation to pay earned wages. Id. Notably, the WPCA "does not establish a particular rate of pay, instead, it controls the manner in which employees in West Virginia are paid wages and it imposes on employers an obligation to pay employees' wages in a timely manner." Gregory v. Forest River, Inc., 369 Fed. Appx. 464, 465 (4th Cir. 2010) (internal quotations and citations omitted) (unpublished decision) (emphasis added). The amount of wages payable to an employee pursuant to the provisions of the WPCA is determined exclusively by the terms of the employment agreement. See Syl. Pt. 5, Adkins v. Am. Mine Research, Inc., 234 W. Va. 328, 765 S.E.2d 217 (2014) ("The determination as to whether 'wages,' as defined in West Virginia Code § 21-5-1(c) (2013 Repl. Vol.), are payable pursuant to the requirements of West Virginia Code § 21-5-1 et seq. (2013 Repl. Vol.) is governed by the terms of the employment agreement, whether written or in the form of a consistently applied unwritten policy."); Meadows v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 207 W. Va. 203, 530 S.E.2d 676 (1999) (finding employment agreement between parties governs in determining whether specific fringe benefits/wages are earned and thus due under WPCA); Weldon v. Kraft, Inc., 896 F.2d 793, 801 (3d Cir. 1990) ("The contract between the parties governs in determining whether specific wages are earned.").

In this case, petitioners attempt to bootstrap a WPCA claim to the statutory remedies provided by the PWA by obtusely contending they were not paid "wages due." However, as made clear above, the WPCA merely provides a statutory mechanism to recover "compensation wrongly withheld." Syl., Mullins, 171 W.Va. 92, 297 S.E.2d 866. Petitioners herein do not contend that their contractual wages were wrongly "withheld" or that their agreed-upon wages were not paid timely. Rather, the gravamen of petitioners' complaint is that the agreed-upon wages were in violation of the PWA; therefore, their remedy for this violation lies within the PWA. The WPCA creates no right to prevailing wages. See, e.g., Barton v. Creasey Co. of Clarksburg, 900 F.2d 249, *2 (4th Cir.1990) (unpublished), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 849, 111 S.Ct. 137, 112 L.Ed.2d 104 (1990) (recognizing WPCA provides procedures and remedies to facilitate collection of wages but it does not "grant any entitlements to pay or wages[.]").

Therefore, we find that the circuit court properly dismissed petitioners' WPCA claims.

^{. . .}

Id. at 571-72, 281-82 (italicized emphasis in original; bold emphasis added).

This is precisely the way that Petitioners sought in the case below to improperly bootstrap a WPCA cause of action to their Holiday Statute claim, by obtusely contending that they have not been paid their wages due, just like the plaintiffs did in *Grim*. The gravamen of Petitioners' action below was that they were not afforded *enough* time off under the Holiday Statute. However, by their view, because the time off ultimately can be and has been monetized when a firefighter either uses the time off or separates from employment, Morgantown automatically has not paid Petitioners their "wages due" (i.e., the additional time off in dispute under the Holiday Statute that Petitioners' tenuous extrapolation, Morgantown is in violation of the Act. This Court's analysis and holding in *Grim* expressly confirms that this is not how the WPCA is intended to apply.

4. APPLICATION OF THE WPCA TO PETITIONERS' HOLIDAY STATUTE CLAIM WOULD OPEN THE FLOODGATES OF LITIGATION TO CLAIMS UNRELATED TO TIMELY WAGE PAYMENT.

To carry Petitioners' objectives to their untenable end, consider, hypothetically, a plaintiff making a claim for gender discrimination under the West Virginia Human Rights Act on a theory of failure to promote. The hypothetical plaintiff's claim involves allegations that, had she not been discriminated against, she would have received promotions and resulting increases in her wages. The plaintiff's employer properly and timely paid her *agreed upon* wages at each payday. However, by plaintiff's view, she would have been paid more at each such payday had she not been discriminated against. Now consider if this hypothetical plaintiff attempted to bootstrap a WPCA claim on the premise that, because her employer did not pay her enough wages at each and every payday due to its failure to promote her, that the employer had automatically violated the WPCA at each and every payday as a result. Allowing such claims would create "liability in an indeterminate amount for an indeterminate time to an indeterminate class." Ultramares Corp. v. Touche, 255 N.Y. 170, 180, 174 N.E. 441, 444 (1931) (Cardozo, C.J.)

The floodgates would open to WPCA claims appearing automatically in tandem with any and all other claims involving a dispute over an employment right or benefit that in some way or at some time could be monetized. This is why the mere satisfaction of the definition of "wages" under the WPCA is not enough to create a claim under the Act. The Act would have a much wider reach than either that which is expressly provided for in its statutory text or as interpreted in our case law. This is an untenable result and would be gravely unfair to employers in West Virginia, subjecting them to the WPCA's liquidated damages, interest, and attorneys' fees and costs provisions, and five-year statute of limitations, in situations where they complied with the Act.

5. THE CASES CITED BY PETITIONERS FURTHER UNDERSCORE THAT THE WPCA APPLIES TO THE NON-PAYMENT OF WAGES OR BENEFITS BY EMPLOYERS AND NOT TO DISPUTES ABOUT ENTITLEMENT TO THE WAGES OR BENEFITS.

Cases cited by Petitioners in the proceedings below, to support their proposition that holiday time off is a fringe benefit and therefore a wage, only underscore that the WPCA applies to claims regarding the actual non-payment or withholding of agreed upon wages and fringe benefits, and not the entitlement to them and in what amount under the applicable law or agreement governing the same. *See, e.g., Meadows*, 207 W.Va. 203, 530 S.E.2d 676 (dispute concerned various employers' non-payment of accrued, unused sick and vacation leave upon various employees' separations, not the entitlement to such leave in the first place, how it accrued, or in what amount; and, while the WPCA applied to the dispute, the Court found that "whether fringe benefits have then accrued, are capable of calculation and payable directly to an employee so as to be included in the term 'wages' are determined by the terms of employment and not by the provisions of W. Va. Code § 21-5-1(c)."); *Gress v. Petersburg Foods, LLC*, 215 W. Va. 32, 592

S.E.2d 811 (2003) (dispute concerned employer's non-payment of partial weeks of unused vacation time at separation; not the entitlement to such leave or in what amount).

Furthermore, Petitioners newly cite to *Kucera v. City of Wheeling*, 153 W. Va. 531, 170 S.E.2d 217 (1969), but they misstate its support for their position. Specifically, Petitioners state that:

this Appeals Court found that municipal firefighters are covered by the WPCA when it stated at Syl. Pt. 2: "[a] municipal fireman, by reason of language of subsections (e) and (f) of Code, 1931, 21—5C—1, as amended, comes within the protection afforded by Code, 1931, 21—5C—3, as amended, and is entitled to time and a half for hours worked in excess of the hours specified therein."

(Pet'rs Br. 26.) (emphasis added.)

However, a closer look at *Kucera* reveals that, not only is there no such finding, but there is no discussion whatsoever of the WPCA—i.e. Article 5, Chapter 21 of the West Virginia Code. Rather, *Kucera* concerns an entirely different portion of the Code—Article 5C, Chapter 21 which is the West Virginia Minimum Wage and Maximum Hours Standards for Employers statute. The *Kucera* Court found, at Syllabus Point 3, that the City of Wheeling is not an agency of the state within the meaning of W. Va. Code § 21-5C-1(f) and its regularly employed fire fighters are not, therefore, excluded from the coverage afforded under the provisions of the state minimum wage and maximum hours law.¹⁵ Petitioners have improperly extrapolated from this holding that the WPCA applies to their Holiday Statute claim. *Kucera* is legally and factually distinguishable and should have no bearing on the issues in this case.

6. THE HOLIDAY STATUTE IS ENFORCEABLE WITHOUT APPLICATION OF THE WPCA, AND IT PROVIDES A REMEDY TO PETITIONERS.

¹⁵ As the Court subsequently held in *Adkins v. City of Huntington*, municipalities are exempt from the minimum wage and maximum hour provision of Chapter 21, Article 5C when 80% of their employees are covered by federal law relating to minimum wages and maximum hours. 191 W. Va. 317, 445 S.E.2d 500 (1994).

Even if this Court were to accept Petitioners' view of *Grim*—that its holding should apply only in situations where there would be a double recovery—then *Grim* nonetheless applies in this case. Petitioners incorrectly state that the Holiday Statute "is a single statute with no mechanism of enforcement. It must rely on the WPCA provisions for recovery if Holiday Pay [sic] is provided incompletely." (Pet'rs Br. 27.) This is incorrect because it ignores the equitable remedy available under the Holiday Statute. In *Pullano*, this Court held that Bluefield's practice of granting time off rather than additional pay for holidays complied with W. Va. Code § 8-15-10a. *Pullano*, 176 W. Va. at 205, 342 S.E.2d at 171. The *Pullano* Court further held that:

Essentially, the circuit court ruled that if any firefighter could establish as a matter of fact that he had not been granted sufficient time off during the time period in question, then that firefighter would be entitled to additional time off. We believe the circuit court's resolution of this issue was appropriate since it did accord relief if specific facts could be shown to warrant it.

Id. (emphasis added).

Petitioners further attempt to distinguish *Grim* when they state that "the Morgantown firefighters have not relied on two separate Acts that would provide them with a double recovery as the Eastern Electric employees did." (Pet'rs Br. 27.) However, the Morgantown firefighters are doing precisely what the Eastern Electric employees did. As demonstrated above, they are relying on two separate Acts, seeking either a double recovery or to cherry-pick their remedy. Either way, *Grim* makes clear that this is not permissible. *Grim*, 571-72, 281-82 ("Rather, the gravamen of petitioners' complaint is that the agreed-upon wages were in violation of the PWA; therefore, their remedy for this violation lies within the PWA.")

For all of the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court's sound ruling, as set forth in its Final Order, that "Plaintiffs' claims are not subject to the WPCA, Morgantown did not fail to pay wages due, including fringe benefits, under the WPCA, and Morgantown is granted summary judgment in its favor dismissing Count Two of the Plaintiffs' Complaint." (J.A. 1269.)

D. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN FINDING THAT LACHES PREVENTS PUBLIC EMPLOYEES FROM DELAYING THEIR CLAIMS FOR PAST BENEFITS AND ATTEMPTING TO DIVERT THEM FROM GENERAL FUNDS FOR THE CURRENT FISCAL YEAR.

Petitioners' present arguments continue to mischaracterize the Holiday Statute in an attempt to afford them a monetary award for their claims, suggesting that the current annual budget of the City of Morgantown should be diverted to pay several years of damages and compound interest on claims that Petitioners admit that they delayed filing. (Pet'rs Br. 30, *citing* J.A. 008 at $\P\P$ 24-25). Likewise, Petitioners have continued to try to insert terms into § 8-15-10a in an attempt to recharacterize the equitable relief provided by the Holiday Statute as a monetary damage. (*Id.*, citing J.A. 007). However, Petitioners cannot deny that they brought their claims pursuant to § 8-15-10a. Based upon the Holiday Statute itself, Petitioners claims can, and must, be treated as the request for equitable relief that they are.

During its September 16, 2021, summary judgment hearing, the lower court directly addressed this issue. When counsel for the Petitioners attempted to argue that § 8-15-10a is the "holiday pay statute," the Court correctly identified the inaccuracy in this characterization:

THE COURT:	No. It doesn't say paid time off. It says allowed equal time off. Look at the statute, Mr. Miller.
COUNSEL:	Right. But that would mean paid time off.
THE COURT:	No, it doesn't. It means allowed equal time off. It means what it says. It doesn't say paid. It says equal time off or $-$ depending on which way the City wants to do it $-$ one and a half times his regular pay.

(J.A. 1495-96, at 31:18-32:2).

As the Circuit Court correctly identified, § 8-15-10a provides for an equitable remedy, and it correctly concluded that the doctrine of laches is applicable to the Petitioners' claims. This holding was consistent with *Pullano*, as well.

Furthermore, the Circuit Court rightfully found that Petitioners had been dilatory in bringing their claims, making laches an appropriate defense in this matter. As long recognized by our courts, "Laches is a delay in the assertion of a known right which works to the disadvantage of another, or such delay as will warrant the presumption that the party has waived his right." Syl. Pt. 2, *Bank of Marlinton v. McLaughlin*, 123 W. Va. 608, 17 S.E.2d 213 (1941); *see also Harrison et al. v. Miller, Exec.*, 124 W. Va. 550, 21 S.E.2d 674 (1942).

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